THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

OCT 07 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from the Court of Common Pleas
Richland County, South Carolina

Alison Renee Lee, Chief Administrative Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000566

Richland County Sheriff DepartmentRespondent,

v.

Sammie L. Goodwin.....Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Davidson & Lindemann, PA,
1611 Devonshire Dr. #200
Columbia, South Carolina 29204
PO Box 8568
Columbia, SC 29202-8568
Columbia, SC 29204
Attorney for the Respondent
(803) 806-8222



Sammie L. Goodwin, Pro Se, Appellant
321 Isaac Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29203
(803) 376-7626

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Sammie L. Goodwin, filed an action against the Richland County Sheriff Department and Office L.A. Daiz for excess force and false arrest in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas on January 14, 2016. A hearing was held on March 28, 2018 on the respondent's motion to dismiss. The Court had heard previous motions relating to discovery and to dismiss and ruled in favor of the appellant. (Transcript page 5).

Respondents asked the Court to dismiss the case with prejudice under Rule 41(b), as a sanction. Respondent's attorney acknowledged he had never made such a radical request in his twenty-four (24) year of practice of law. Respondent knew what a radical remedy he was requesting.

The lower court held the believed that the proper sanction was dismissal of the complaint pursuant to Rule 41(b), SCRCF. The trial court granted the Respondents renewed motion to dismiss and that the causes against the Respondent were dismissed with prejudice.

FACTS

Appellant, Sammie L. Goodwin, was arrested by the Richland County Sheriff Department on January 14, 2014. Deputy L. A. Diaz used excessive force to detain the appellant. The appellant was injured in the left arm when Deputy L. A. Diaz tazed the appellant even though he was handcuffed.

Appellant, Sammie L. Goodwin had an argument with his girlfriend, Lelsia, but he did not touch her in any way. He left the bedroom and went into the living room and sat down. He heard the front door bell ring and got up and went to the window and saw two (2) Richland County Sheriff Deputies at the door. One was White and the other was Black. They said they were looking for Lelsia Branham. Lelsia Branham came out of the bedroom into the hallway. The Black deputy went into the hallway to talk with Lelsia Branham and the White Deputy, L. A. Diaz told the appellant to put his hands behind his back because he was under arrest. Deputy L. A. Diaz proceed to arrest the appellant. Lelsia Branham tried to explain to the Deputies that the appellant didn't do this to her and that she poured it on herself.

Appellant was taken outside and put into the back seat of the Sheriff car. Appellant asked the Deputy why he was being arrested and was told to shut his mouth. Appellant asked the White deputy, L. A. Diaz, if he was a racist and if he didn't like Black men because a black man dated his wife. Deputy L. A. Diaz took out his stun gun and started to stun the appellant at least three (3) times. Appellant was taken to Richland County Detention Center and charged with criminal domestic violence and resisting arrest. A few months went by and both charges were dismissed and the arrest records were expunged because the state of South Carolina found out that the appellant didn't commit these charges. The Richland County Sheriff issued a letter that the Deputy L. A. Daiz is guilty of excessive force. (Exhibit "B")

ARGUMENT

Respondent was denied his day in court. The dismissal of his case was a sanction for act he never committed. He never altered or falsified any medical record because he never had any medical records in his possession to alter.

The trial court judge ruled that the appellant tampered with or falsified his medical records and then adopted the compromised version at his deposition constitutes knowing and fraudulent conduct. That theory of events was argued by the defendant at the hearing but there was never any evidence to prove that happened. Moreover, it was impossible for the appellant to alter his medical records because his medical records were never in the appellant's possession.

Respondent's false accusation that the appellant tampered or falsified his medical is the basis for respondent trial court argument to persuade that dismissal of the respondent was a proper remedy. The event and circumstances of the appellant are in no way equal to what happened in Hazel-Atlas Glass Co. v. Hartford-Empire Co., 322 U.S. 238 (1944). Hazel-Atlas Glass Co. v. Hartford-Empire Co., 322 U.S. 238 (1944) is very distinguishable from this case. In Hazel-Atlas, attorneys fabricated a trade journal to bolster a patent application. There was no fabrication on the part of the appellant. He pursued a case on the basis the pain and discomfort he experienced.

There was no medical evidence or testimony by a medical witness that the appellant altered the records. A thorough review of the transcript provides no mention of the appellant having altered the records.

The South Carolina case cited in the judges discussion in the order is has no resemblance to the situation in our case. QZO, Inc. v. Moyer, 358 S.C. 246, 594 S.E. 2d 541 (Ct. App.2004) involved the destruction of relevant evidence which was a fraud on the court. Appellant was accused of altering the medical records, but it was never established that he did. The accusation could not have been proven because the appellant never had possession of the records to destroy them.

Appellant was not involved in either destruction or alteration of evidence. The medical records received by the respondent were directly from the doctor. That is evidenced by the released signed by the appellant. (See Exhibit "A" attached). Even more convincing that there was no either destruction or alteration of the medical records, the trial judge at the hearing where the case was dismissed was the judge at a previous hearing she compelled and the appellant signed authorization to the respondent for the release of appellant's medical records. The records came to the respondent directly from the medical records provider and the appellant had not ability to alter the records. At the trial court hearing, the responded cited Quo Incorporated v. Moyer, Qzo, Inc., d/b/a Palmetto Ambulance Service, and Respondent, v. Darrin Moyer, Jerry Benenhaley, and Alice Childers, of whom Darrin Moyer is appellant. 594 SE. 2nd 541. The court stated: the decision of whether or not to award sanctions is generally entrusted to the discretion of the trial court. See fields v. Regional med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 354 S.C. 445, 581 S.E.2d 489 (ct.app.2003) (decision of what kind and whether to impose discovery sanctions is left to sound discretion of *256 circuit court); karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co., 327 S.C. 538, 489 S.E.2d 679 (ct.app.1997) (noting that imposition of sanctions is generally entrusted to sound discretion of circuit court); see also Stone v. Reddix-Small, 295 S.C. 514, 369 S.E.2d 840 (1988) (stating that contempt decision should be reversed only when without evidentiary support or upon an abuse of discretion by the trial court). An appellate court will not disturb this decision unless the trial court abused its discretion. Griffin grading & clearing, Inc. V. Tire serv. Equip. Mfg. Co., 334 S.C. 193, 511 S.E.2d 716 (ct.app.1999); see also Karppi, 327 S.C. At 542, 489 s.e.2d at 681 (stating that trial court's exercise of its discretionary powers with respect to sanctions imposed

in discovery matters will be interfered with by the court of appeals only if abuse of discretion has occurred).

The burden is on the appealing party to show the trial court abused its discretion in imposing sanctions for failing to comply with a discovery order. *Halverson v. Yawn*, 328 S.C. 618, 493 S.E.2d 883 (Ct.App.1997); *Karppi*, 327 S.C. at 542, 489 S.E.2d at 681. An abuse of discretion may be found where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the trial court was without reasonable factual support and resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, thereby amounting to an error of law. *Kershaw County Bd. of Educ. v. United States Gypsum Co.*, 302 S.C. 390, 396 S.E.2d 369 (1990); *Karppi*, 327 S.C. at 542, 489 S.E.2d at 681. When a party fails to obey an order relating to discovery, the trial court may strike that party's pleadings and enter a default judgment. *Griffin*, 334 S.C. at 198, 511 S.E.2d at 718 (citing Rule 37(b)(2)(c), SCRCF); *see also Karppi*, 327 S.C. at 542, 489 S.E.2d at 682 (explaining that Rule 37, SCRCF, expressly grants trial court power to order judgment by default for either the violation of a court order or, upon motion, for party's failure to respond to certain discovery requests). When a court orders a sanction that results in default or dismissal, "the end result is harsh medicine that should not be administered lightly." *Griffin*, 334 S.C. at 198, 511 S.E.2d at 718; *see also Karppi*, 327 S.C. at 547, 489 S.E.2d at 684 (Anderson, J., concurring) ("A sanction which results in a default or dismissal is harsh punishment which should be *257 imposed only if there is some showing of willful disobedience or gross indifference to the rights of the adverse party."). The sanction should be aimed at the specific misconduct of the party sanctioned and should not be used improvidently to prevent a decision on the merits. *Griffin*, 334 S.C. at 198, 511 S.E.2d at 719; *Karppi*, 327 S.C. at 543, 489 S.E.2d at 682. The sanction imposed should be reasonable, and the court should not go beyond the necessities of the situation to foreclose a decision on the merits of a case. *Karppi*, 327 S.C. at 543, 489 S.E.2d at 682. Finally, when a sanction "would be tantamount to granting a judgment by default, the moving party must show bad faith, willful disobedience or gross indifference to its rights to justify the sanction." *Griffin*, 334 S.C. at 198-99, 511 S.E.2d at 719; *see also Karppi*, 327 S.C. at 543, 489 S.E.2d at 682 ("Before invoking this severe remedy, the trial court must determine that there is some element of bad faith, willfulness, or gross indifference to the rights of other litigants.").

The appellant acknowledges the discretion of the trial court to impose sanctions. The appellant contends the trial court did not obey the guideline established in the above referenced cases. The appellant complied with the discovery order.

The trial court abused its discretion in imposing sanctions for failing to comply with a discovery order because the appellant complied to all discover orders.

“When a sanction would be tantamount to granting a judgment by default, the moving party must show bad faith, willful disobedience or gross indifference to its right to justify the sanction.” Appellant testified before the judge and respondent that he testified at all the depositions and even testimony that the respondent left out. (Transcript pages 24-26). Appellant testified to the inaccuracies in the deposition record.

The trial court abused its discretion in imposing sanctions. The appellant complied with all discovery request as acknowledged by all parties at the hearing. Appellant complied with the discovery order.

CONCLUSION

The Court erred in granting respondent’s motion to dismiss based upon the trial court judge’s belief that the appellant alter and falsified record when the records were never in his possession to alter. In the interest of fundamental fairness the court should remand the case to the circuit court so that the appellant can receive his constitutional right of due process and be allowed to appeal the probate court ruling.