THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-000566  
Case No. 2016-CP-40-0387

---

**RECEIVED**  
JAN 22 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

Sammie L. Goodwin,..... Appellant,

v.

Richland County Sheriff Department, Richland County  
Sheriff Leon Lott in his official capacity, ..... Respondents.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Andrew F. Lindemann  
LINDEMANN, DAVIS & HUGHES, P.A.  
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202  
Post Office Box 6923  
Columbia, South Carolina 29260  
(803) 881-8920

Robert D. Garfield  
CROWE LAFAYE, LLC  
500 Taylor Street, Suite 202

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a discovery order that dismissed this action as a sanction for discovery abuses including the fraudulent alteration of a medical record.

In his Complaint, the Appellant Sammie L. Goodwin alleges claims for false arrest and battery against the Respondents Richland County Sheriff's Department and Richland County Sheriff Leon Lott in his official capacity (hereafter referred to collectively as "Sheriff Lott"). The Appellant alleges that on January 14, 2014, Richland County sheriff's deputies responded to his resident after his live-in girlfriend called dispatch regarding a domestic dispute. The Appellant further alleges that, following some interactions between the Appellant, his girlfriend, and two deputies, he was placed under arrest for Criminal Domestic Violence and was escorted to the patrol vehicle whereupon he was unjustifiably tased multiple times in his left arm. Protesting his arrest and the force instituted by one or more deputies, the Appellant kicked the inside door of the patrol vehicle. He was also charged by the deputies with Resisting Arrest. The charges were ultimately dismissed.

The procedural history of the case, which is discussed in greater detail below, demonstrates that defense counsel experienced difficulties in obtaining basic discovery from the Appellant, including a complete set of medical records.

That necessitated the filing of a motion to compel which was heard by Circuit Court Judge George McFaddin on June 6, 2017, and resulted in the issuance of a form order requiring the Appellant to produce the medical records within thirty days. (Form Order, June 7, 2017). When the medical records produced thereafter were incomplete, partially illegible or cut-off, and were largely duplicative of the incomplete records produced earlier, Sheriff Lott filed a Motion to Dismiss on August 14, 2017, seeking dismissal as a sanction for the Appellant's failure to comply with Judge McFaddin's discovery order. (Motion to Dismiss). That motion was heard by Circuit Court Judge Alison Renee Lee on August 30, 2017. Judge Lee denied dismissal as a sanction, but by Form Order, she did require the Appellant to "provide written answers to the Defendant's interrogatories by September 15, 2017. Plaintiff must respond to questions concerning criminal convictions and medical records in the deposition to be rescheduled." (Form Order filed August 30, 2017). The Appellant also provided signed medical authorizations at that time.

With those medical authorizations, Sheriff Lott's counsel obtained a complete copy of the medical records from Providence Orthopedic Group. Those records included the original copy of the "MRI Patient Medical History Screening Form," dated September 12, 2014. On that original form, the reason for the MRI was listed as "Back pain left shoulder. Hurt at work lifting a motor." (R. \_\_\_\_).

Earlier in discovery, the Appellant had produced a copy of that same MRI screening form except that version had been altered to omit the words “Hurt at work lifting a motor.” (R. \_\_\_\_).

As a result, on January 26, 2018, Sheriff Lott filed a Renewed Motion to Dismiss requesting that the action be dismissed with prejudice “as a sanction for the Plaintiff having engaged in fraud during the course of discovery in addition to introducing and/or stipulating to a fraudulent document during his deposition.” (Renewed Motion to Compel). A hearing was held on that motion on March 28, 2018, before Judge Lee.

Judge Lee thereafter issued an Order on May 16, 2017, dismissing the Appellant’s Complaint as a sanction for discovery abuses including the fraudulent alteration of a medical record. She ruled that “based upon the record, Plaintiff’s discernable attempts to alter his medical record clearly amounts to a discovery abuse.” (Order, p. 6). She further concluded that “Plaintiff tampering with or falsifying his medical records and then adopting the compromised version at his deposition, constitutes knowing and fraudulent conduct” and that “[t]his conduct by Plaintiff is, therefore, bad faith or gross indifference to the rights of Defendant.” (Order, p. 6). Judge Lee also recognized that “Plaintiff has engaged in a pattern of discovery abuses dating back to his unwillingness to comply with simply discovery

requirements, necessitating three motions including the instant dispositive motion before this Court.” (Order, p. 6).

The Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider which was denied by Form Order filed March 21, 2019. This appeal followed.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The imposition of sanctions is generally entrusted to the sound discretion of the Circuit Court.” *Karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co.*, 327 S.C. 538, 489 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1997). “A trial court’s exercise of its discretionary powers with respect to sanctions imposed in discovery matters will be interfered with by the Court of Appeals only if an abuse of discretion has occurred.” *Id.* “The burden is upon the party appealing from the order to demonstrate the trial court abused its discretion.” *Id.* “An abuse of discretion may be found where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the trial court was without reasonable factual support and resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, thereby amounting to an error of law.” *Id.*

“The selection of a sanction for discovery violation is within the trial court’s discretion.” *Griffin Grading & Clearing, Inc. v. Tire Service Equipment Manufacturing Co., Inc.*, 334 S.C. 193, 511 S.E.2d 716, 718 (Ct. App. 1999). The appellate court “will not interfere with that decision unless the trial court abused its discretion.” *Id.*

This Court has, nonetheless, recognized that “when the court orders default or dismissal, or the sanction itself results in default or dismissal, the end result is nevertheless harsh medicine that should not be administered lightly.” *Karppi*, 489 S.E.2d at 682. Therefore, “[b]efore invoking this severe remedy, the trial court

must determine that there is some element of bad faith, willfulness, or gross indifference to the rights of other litigants.” *Id.* “The sanction imposed should be reasonable, and the court should not go beyond the necessities of the situation to foreclose a decision on the merits of a case. The sanction should be aimed at the specific misconduct of the party sanctioned. Furthermore, whatever sanction is imposed should serve to protect the rights of discovery provided by the Rules of Civil Procedure.” *Id.* “In determining the appropriateness of a sanction, the court should consider such factors as the precise nature of the discovery and the discovery posture of the case, willfulness, and degree of prejudice.” *Griffin Grading*, 511 S.E.2d at 719.

## ARGUMENTS

The Appellant challenges the trial court's dismissal of his Complaint as a sanction for perpetrating a fraud on the court by producing in discovery an altered medical record. In its Order, the trial court ruled:

[T]his court finds that Plaintiff tampering with or falsifying his medical records and then adopting the compromised version at his deposition, constitutes knowing and fraudulent conduct. This conduct by Plaintiff is, therefore, bad faith or gross indifference to the rights of Defendant. Consequently, this Court believes that the proper sanction is a dismissal of the Complaint pursuant to Rule 41(b), SCRCP.

(Order, p. 6).

In his Renewed Motion to Dismiss, Sheriff Leon Lott sought the dismissal of the Plaintiff's Complaint as a sanction for the Appellant's production of an altered medical record. On September 14, 2016, the Appellant was served with sets of interrogatories and requests for production. On November 5, 2016, the Appellant produced eight pages of records, including what appeared to be five pages of orthopedic medical records. One of those documents was a "MRI Patient Medical History Screening Form," dated September 12, 2014. On that form, the Appellant indicated to the imaging technician that the body part to be examined was "left shoulder" and gave the reason for the MRI as "Bad pain [in] left shoulder." (R. \_\_\_\_).

Sheriff Lott concluded that the medical records produced by the Appellant were not complete. A request was made for complete records by letter dated February 17, 2017 (R. \_\_\_\_), and when none were forthcoming, Sheriff Lott filed a motion to compel on March 13, 2017. (Motion to Compel). That motion was heard by Circuit Court Judge George McFaddin on June 6, 2017, and during that hearing, defense counsel requested an order requiring the Appellant to produce all medical records. Counsel offer to have the Appellant sign medical authorizations to allow him to obtain the medical records directly from the medical providers, which the Appellant opposed. (Tr. 7). The Appellant refused to sign the medical authorizations and advised the Court that he would provide the additional records. (Tr. 9-10). Judge McFaddin declined to require the Appellant to provide medical authorizations but ordered him to produce the medical records within thirty days. (Tr. 9-10; Form Order, June 7, 2017).

On June 29, 2017, the Appellant hand delivered eight pages of orthopedic medical records which were incomplete, partially illegible or cut-off, and were largely duplicative of what was produced earlier. (R. \_\_\_\_). On August 14, 2017, Sheriff Lott filed a Motion to Dismiss, with supporting memorandum, based upon the Appellant's failure to comply with Judge McFaddin's discovery order. (Motion to Dismiss). That motion was heard by Circuit Court Judge Alison Renee Lee on August 30, 2017. Judge Lee denied dismissal as a sanction, but by Form

Order, she did require the Appellant to “provide written answers to the Defendant’s interrogatories by September 15, 2017. Plaintiff must respond to questions concerning criminal convictions and medical records in the deposition to be rescheduled.” (Form Order filed August 30, 2017). The Appellant also agreed to provide medical authorizations.

With those medical authorizations, Sheriff Lott’s counsel thereafter obtained a complete copy of the medical records from Providence Orthopedic Group. Those records included the original copy of the “MRI Patient Medical History Screening Form,” dated September 12, 2014. On that original form, the reason for the MRI was listed as “Back pain left shoulder. Hurt at work lifting a motor.” (R. \_\_\_\_).

On January 26, 2018, Sheriff Lott filed a Renewed Motion to Dismiss requesting that the action be dismissed with prejudice “as a sanction for the Plaintiff having engaged in fraud during the course of discovery in addition to introducing and/or stipulating to a fraudulent document during his deposition.” (Renewed Motion to Compel). A hearing was held on that motion on March 28, 2018, before Judge Lee. During the hearing, defense counsel presented the court with two versions of the MRI screening form, which was clear and conclusive evidence that the form initially produced in discovery was altered to omit the words “Hurt at work lifting a motor.” As Judge Lee concluded in her Order, the Appellant offered no explanation at the hearing for the omitted information on the

form. Instead, he argued that defense counsel failed to discuss key testimony in his deposition, which had no relevance to the issue regarding the fraudulent MRI screening form.

Judge Lee requested a copy of the Appellant's deposition. She also reviewed the deposition of Dr. Mickey Plymale, who was the treating orthopedist. Thereafter, on May 16, 2018, Judge Lee issued a detailed order in which she discussed the Appellant's deposition testimony and its discrepancies with the medical records:

In his deposition, Plaintiff testified that through the entire course of treatment for his injury by the emergency department, his primary care physician, treating orthopedist (Mickey Plymale, M.D.), a radiologist, and MRI technicians, Plaintiff verbalized to every medical and health care personnel that the pain in left shoulder and/or upper arm area was the express result of having been tased by the police. *See* Pl.'s depo. pp. 70-71, 79-80. However, the medical records do not support Plaintiff's claims and no other medical records have been produced by Plaintiff. Medical records reveal Plaintiff was first seen by Dr. Plymale on September 5, 2014, several months after the incident with the deputies. During that visit Plaintiff complained of shoulder pain that was of slow onset, no trauma was mentioned. An MRI was ordered by Dr. Plymale and the MRI screening form has previously been discussed.

(Order, p. 3). Judge Lee also compared the Appellant's testimony to the deposition testimony of Dr. Plymale, where he explained "during an office visit on October 2,

2014, Plaintiff told him that ‘he was moving a motor at work when he suddenly felt pain.’” (Order, p. 3).

In her Order, Judge Lee explained that “the Defendant must establish bad faith, willful disobedience, or gross indifference to its rights in order to justify the severe sanction of dismissal of a Complaint.” (Order, p. 6). Judge Lee ruled that “based upon the record, Plaintiff’s discernable attempts to alter his medical record clearly amounts to a discovery abuse.” (Order, p. 6). She ultimately concluded that “Plaintiff tampering with or falsifying his medical records and then adopting the compromised version at his deposition, constitutes knowing and fraudulent conduct” and that “[t]his conduct by Plaintiff is, therefore, bad faith or gross indifference to the rights of Defendant.” (Order, p. 6). Judge Lee also recognized that “Plaintiff has engaged in a pattern of discovery abuses dating back to his unwillingness to comply with simply discovery requirements, necessitating three motions including the instant dispositive motion before this Court.” (Order, p. 6).

Judge Lees was also critical that the “Plaintiff filed his suit despite being told by his treating orthopedist six months earlier that there had been no causal connection between the tasing event with the Defendant’s deputies and his ultimate diagnosis of a SLAP and/or labrum tear. In the twenty-eight months that this lawsuit has been litigated and appeared on multiple trial rosters, Plaintiff has failed to identify any physician who would opine that his injury was proximately caused

by the tasing event. In fact, the record in this case reveals just the opposite, even when the facts are taken in a light most favorable to Plaintiff. Based on his orthopedist's opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, Plaintiff's injury actually was not caused by the event with the Defendant's deputies. According to Plaintiff's orthopedist, the injury was not caused by trauma, such as a taser, but a chronic 'wear and tear,' which clearly is associated with work-related injuries, such as lifting engines or motors." (Order, p. 6).

Although the Appellant provided no explanation for the omitted information on the MRI screening form during the hearing, he did file a Rule 59(e) motion wherein he denied altering the medical record and claimed that he "could not have altered his medical records when they were not in his possession." (Rule 59(e) Motion, p. 2). Judge Lee rejected those arguments and denied the Rule 59(e) motion by Form Order filed March 21, 2019.

On appeal, the Appellant makes the same argument. He contends that "it was impossible for the appellant to alter his medical records because his medical records were never in the appellant's possession." *See*, Appellant's Brief, p. 2. The Appellant's conclusory and self-serving explanation is defied by the record. The Appellant seems to suggest that he provided medical authorizations and that is how defense counsel received the MRI screening form. However, the medical authorizations were not provided until the August 30, 2017 motion hearing. The

fraudulent and altered MRI screening form was produced in the initial discovery production on November 5, 2016, by the Appellant himself. Thereafter, that MRI screening form was made an exhibit at the Appellant's deposition held on June 2, 2017. The Appellant had, in fact, opposed providing medical authorizations for the records previously at the initial hearing before Judge McFaddin on the Sheriff's motion to compel, which was held several days later on June 6, 2017. The medical authorizations, once provided at the August 30, 2017 hearing, are actually what allowed defense counsel to obtain the original and non-altered MRI screening form which included the critical language "Hurt at work lifting a motor." In short, the Appellant's explanation that the MRI screening form was never in his possession before it was produced in discovery is simply false and unsupported in the record. That false explanation offered to this Court is a further basis for affirming the dismissal as a sanction. There is no question that the altered MRI screening form was in the Appellant's possession and was actually produced by him.

The dismissal of the Appellant's Complaint as a sanction for discovery abuses including the fraudulent alteration of a medical record is fully supported by the case law. In *QZO, Inc. v. Moyer*, 358 S.C. 246, 594 S.E.2d 541 (Ct. App. 2004), this Court found that the circuit court did not abuse its discretion by striking the defendant's answer in response to the appellant's intentional defiance of the court's temporary restraining order and willful destruction of evidence. Evidence

demonstrated that the appellant had reformatted a hard drive the day before it was produced in discovery thereby destroying or altering critical evidence.

Similarly, in *Griffin Grading & Clearing, Inc. v. Tire Service Equipment Manufacturing Co., Inc.*, 334 S.C. 193, 511 S.E.2d 716 (Ct. App. 1999), this Court held that the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in striking the appellant's answer where the appellant had failed to comply with four discovery orders. *See also, Halverson v. Yaun*, 328 S.C. 618, 493 S.E.2d 883 (Ct. App. 1997) (affirming circuit court's order striking appellant's complaint because plaintiff failed to comply with court's order to comply with discovery and presented no evidence to show that there was compliance).

The most instructive case appears to be *Brandt v. Gooding*, 368 S.C. 618, 630 S.E.2d 259 (2006), in which the Supreme Court sanctioned the appellant for perpetrating a fraud on the court by producing during discovery a fraudulent letter that had been fabricated. The Supreme Court explained that "[d]ismissal of the complaint is a proper sanction against a complainant who submits fraudulent documents to the court." 630 S.E.2d at 264. The Supreme Court concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in dismissing the complaint as a sanction for perpetrating a fraud upon the court.

This case is no different from *Brandt*. As discussed above, the applicable standard of review is abuse of discretion. To overturn the Circuit Court's dismissal

of his Complaint as a discovery sanction, the Appellant must show that the Circuit Court's decision was "without reasonable factual support and resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant." Here, there was ample evidence in the record, as discussed in detail above, to support Judge Lee's ruling. In addition, there was ample evidence to support her finding that the Appellant's alteration of the MRI screening form constitutes bad faith and gross indifference to the rights of Sheriff Lott. Judge Lee also noted that Appellant's pattern of discovery abuses and unwillingness, despite being given several opportunities, to comply with "simple discovery requirements." (Order, p. 6). Judge Lee did not abuse her discretion as evident from her well-reasoned and thorough Order which further reflects that the court considered all of the factors required in determining the appropriateness of the sanction. That Order should be affirmed on appeal.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussion and analysis, the Respondents Richland County Sheriff Department and Richland County Sheriff Leon Lott respectfully request that this Court affirm the orders issued by Circuit Court Judge Alison Renee Lee and uphold the dismissal of this action as a sanction for discovery abuses including the fraudulent alternation of a medical record.